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it is %art of the ordinary business or practice
of a bank to collect, cheques for their custo-
mers. If therefore a standard is sought, it
must be the standard to be derived from
the ordinary practice of bankers, not indi-
viduals. Their Lordships think therefore
that the evidence of bank officials in Ken-
dall’s case as to the practice of banks was
rightly tendered and received, as indeed the
Oourt in that case decided.

Coming now to the reasons alleged for
holding the learned trial judge to have been
wrong in holding no negligence proved,
they really amount to this, that the bank
ought not to have collected a cheque for a
customer who was of such recent introduc-
tion and about whom they knew nothing.
There was, however, nothing suspicious
about the way the account was opened.
customer, however genuine and respectable,
could hardly, assuming him to start with
a deposit of £20 in cash, have opened it in
any other way.! Was then the fact that
a cheque was paid into that account for
collection two days after the account was
opened a circumstance of an unusual char-
acter calculated to arouse suspicion and
provoke inquiry? For if it was laid down
that no chegue shonld be collected without a
thorough inquiry as to the history of the
cheque it would render banking business as
ordinarily carried on impossible ; customers
would often be left for long periods without
available money. Now if the cheque here
had been for some unusuallg large sum,
perhaps suspicion might have been aroused.
This is really a question of degree, and their
Lordships cannot say that the trial judge
was wrong in thinking that £743 was not a
sum of such magnitude as to create the duty
of inquiry.

If the cheque had been in different form
things might well have been otherwise.
Their Lordships cannot help remarking
that to a certain extent the a};lpella,n ts have
themselves to thank for what has happened,
owing to the terms of their instructions.
If they bad insisted that in the case of pay-
ments made at the office, as they did insist
in the case of drafts sent by post, the cheques
should be made payable to the Commis-
sioners of Taxation, then there would have
been something on the face of the cheque
to arouse inguiry. The fact that the cheque
was to bearer distinguishes this case from
the case of Permewan. In that case, in the
case of thirty-six cheques, the cheques were
drawn in favour of the Commissioners, or
had such markings on them as showed that
they were drawn for the purpose of paying
duties. This was held, their Lordships
think rightly, to be a circumstance which
ought to have put the bank on inquiry when
such cheques were presented by a private
individual. Their Lordships do not think
it necessary to consider and decide as to
whether the majority or minority were
right as to the other twenty-two cheques in
that case, the point being whether the
markings on those cheques did or did not
sound such a note of alarm as ought to have

ut the bank on their guard. There was
g'ere no note of warning of any kind on the

cheque, and accordingly the conditions

which arose in the Permewan case do not

apply.

Their Lordships will therefore humbly
advise His Majesty to dismiss the appeal
with costs.

Appeal dismissed.

Counsel for the Appellants—Rome, K.C.
—Austen-Cartmell. Agents—Light & Ful-
ton, Solicitors.

Counsel for the Respondents — R. A.
Wright, K.O.- Jowitt. Agents—Slaughter
& May, Solicitors.

HOUSE OF LORDS,
Thursday, February 26, 1920.

(Before Lords Finlay, Sumner, Parmoor,
and Wrenbury.)
O'ROURKE v. DARBISHIRE AND
OTHERS. -

(ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL
. IN ENGLAND.)
Ageni and Client—Privileged Communica-
tion — Solicitor Acting Both as Trustee
and Agent of the Trust— Allegation of
Fraud—Euxtent of Privilege.
. The fact that the solicitor of a trust
is also a trustee does not affect the

" privilege attaching to confidential com-
munications seeking or giving profes-
sional advice. In re Postlethwaite, 1887,
35 Ch. D. 722, considered and distin.
guished.

Where fraud is claimed to defeat such
privilege a primae facie case must be
established—dicta of Romer, L.-J., and
Lord Davey in Bullivant v. Atlorney-
General for Victoria, [1900] 2 Q. B. 163,
[1901] A..C. 198, considered,

The right to refuse production of
documents on the ground that they
relate solely to the case of the resisting
party is not confined to such documents
as the resisting party could put in as
evidence in support of his own case.

Knight v. Waterford {(Marquess of),
1836, 2 Y. & C., Ex. 22; Hey v. De’la
Hey, 1886, W.N. 101, distinguished,

Bewicke v. Graham, 1831, 7 Q.B.D.
400, approved.

Appeal—Arbitration—Judicial Reference—
Competency of Appeal,

bservations on the competency of
appeal against the decision of a judge
who, in the course of proceedings before
him for discovery, at the request of both
parties has looked at certain documents
to ascertain whether they should be
produced.

Decision of the Court of A
1 Ch. 320, affirmed (Lord Fin
ing with regard to one item).

The facts appear from their Lordships’

considered judgment, which was delivered

as follows :—

. LorD FINLAY — This case raises some

important questions with regard to the

right to require production of documents.

peal, [1919]
ay dissent-
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The order made by Peterson, J., for produc-
tion was reserved by the Court of Appeal,
from whose judgmentthe present appeal has
been brought.

-The writ in the action was issued on the
11th February 1915. The plaintiff’s claim is
to the estate of the late Sir Joseph Whit-
worth, who died on the 22nd January 1887,
leaving property, real and personal, said to
be of the value of £1,000,000 or more, The
plaintiff claims as representing the heiress-
at-law and one of the two next-of-kin of the
testator. The representatives of the exe-
cutors of Sir Joseph Whitworth are defen-
dants. The defendants Ellen M‘Gowan and
Elise Jenkins are the executrices of the other
next-of-kin of the testator.

The amended statement of claim was
delivered on the 12th April 1918, and the
defence in June of the same year. The
affidavit of documents was filed on the 1st
May 1917, and a further aftidavit on the 3rd
May 1918, In this last affidavit the defen-
dants claimed that they were not bound to
produce a number of documents on the

round of professional privilege, and on the
gurther ground that the documents relate
solely to the defendants’ case and not to the
plaintiff’s case, and do not in any way tend
to support the plaintiff’s case or to impeach
that of the defendant’s.

The statement of claim alleges that the
deceased Sir Joseph Whitworth left a will,
dated the 3rd December 1884, and four
codicils, the effect of which is stated, and
that the widow Lady Whitworth, Mr
Christie, and Mr Darbishire were the trus-
tees and executors.

By the will and the first three codicils it
is alleged that provision was made for
educational purposes, and various legacies
were given, the fourth codicil being in the
following terms (par. 8 of the statement of
claim)—¢ 1 declare that the gift in my first
codicil of all other property if any not
effectually disposed of beneficially by my
said will or by that codicil to my wife and
Richard Copley Christie and Robert Dukin-
field Darbishire for their own absolute
benefit in equal shares which gift I have
augmented by the provisions of my second
codicil shall include all the real and personal
estate belonging to me and not otherwise
disposed of by my will or any codicil
thereto. And I accordingly give to them
such real and personal estate in equal shares
for their own benefit having full confidence
that they will respectively desire to carry
out my wishes to the utmost of their power
but nothing in this codicil or in my will or
my first three codicils contained shall be
construed so as to impose any trust upon
my residuary legatees and devisees or any
of them or in any manner to abridge or
qualify their absolute ownership or rights.
And subject to the provisions herein con-
tained I hereby confirm my said will and
first three codicils.

The statement of claim charges in pars.
11 and 12 that the trustees and executors
took the residuary estate upon a secret
trust which was never defined or was in-
valid by reason of the Mortmain Acts or
otherwise (so that there would be a result-

ing trust for the heir-at-law and next-of-
kin), and further that if the trustees and
executors took for their own useand bene-
fit, the dispositions had been obtained by
them from the testator by fraud. Par-
ticulars were delivered under these two
paragraphs stating that the fraud was in
devising and carrying out the scheme em-
bodied in the will and codicils whereby the
testator was left in the belief that his wishes
as to the disposal of the residue of his estate
for educational purposes would be carried
out by the executors, whereas they intended
to appropriate the greater part of the tes-
tator’s estate for their own use.

The statement of claim further alleges
(par. 23) that a deed of release, dated the
3lst December 1889, was made between
Fanny Uniacke of the first part, Ellen
M*‘Gowan of the second part, the defendant
Joseph Whitworth M‘Gowan of the third
part, and Whitworth’s executors of the
fourth part. This deed recited that the
parties of the first, second, and third parts
(the heiress and next-of-kin of the testator)
had expressed their intention to take pro-
ceedings for the recall of the probate of Sir
Joseph Whitworth’s will and codiecils, and
that a compromise had been arranged on
the terms that Whitworth’s executors were
to pay £75,000 to be divided in the propor-
tion specified between Fanny Uniacke and
her children and Ellen M‘Gowan and Joseph
M‘Gowan. By this deed the first, second,
and third parties released to W hitworth’s
executors all the real and personal estate of
the testator discharged from all claims.
The statement of claim alleges that the
execution of this release was procured by
the fraud of Whitworth’s executors in con-
cealing from the other parties to the deed
the facts as to the testator’s will and codicils,
as alleged earlier in the statement of claim,
and that the executors appropriated to their
own use a considerable part of the testator’s
estate,

The claim made in the action is that Whit-
worth’s executors should be declared to be
trustees for the heir-at-law and next-of-kin
of the testator, and that the deed of release
should be cancelled or declared not to be
binding.

The application for production of docu-
ments was heard in the first instance by
Petersen, J., and he made the order of the
3rd July 1918 for the production of the
documents described in the schedule to
that order. The Court of Appeal, consist-
ing of Bankes, Warrington, and Scrutton,
L.JJ., reversed this order, holding that the
documents in question were covered by
professional privilege. On the present
a[i)%)ea.l it was urged on behalf of the plain-
tiff—(a) That the professional privilege did
not exist, the solicitor being himself one of
the trustees and executors; (b) that the
plaintiff had what was called a ‘‘proprie--
tary right” as one of the cestui que frust
to see all documents relating to the trust;
{c) that no privilege exists where the com-
munication has been made for the purpose
of carrying out a fraud, and that this was
the case with regard to the documents in
question.
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I shall take these Eoints in order—(a) Mr
Darbishire, one of the three trustees, acted
as solicitor for the trust. The privilege is
claimed in respect of communications be-
tween him as such solicitor and his co-trus-
tees with reference to the trust. Peterson,
J., held on the authority of Postlethwaite’s
case (35 Ch. D. 722) that there could be no
privilege where the solicitor consulted was
himself one of the trustees. In my opinion
any such proposition is erroneous in point
of law, and ! think that no such proposi-
tion is involved in the decision of North, J.,
in that case. Trustees are entitled to con-
sult a solicitor with reference to the affairs
of the trust, and the communications be-
tween them and their legal adviser are
privileged if for the purpose of obtaining
legal advice. Why should such communi-
cations be less privileged becanse the
solicitor is himself one of the trustees?
There is no valid distinction between
such communications with the solicitor
who is himself a trustee, and such com-
munications with a solicitor who is outside

the trust altogether. Of course the privilege-

is confined to communications genuinely
for the purpose of getting legal advice. It
would not extend to mere business com-
munications with reference to the trust,
not for the purpose of getting legal advice.
In the present case the affidavit of the 3rd
May 1918 states that the communications
were for the purpose of getting legal advice.
No sufficient reason has been shown for
discrediting this affidavit as untrue or as
made under some misconception of fact
or law. The statement is not inherently
incredible, as was suggested on behalf of
the appellant, and I thivk that the Opurt
of Appeal was right in giving effect to it.

When the decision in Postlethwaite’s case
is examined it will be found that it does
not really support the proposition con-
tended for. .

The judgment must be read with refer-
ence to the facts of the case. The plaintiffs
were admittedly cestui que trust of the
testator's property. They averred that one
of the trustees had himself secretly pur-
chased part of the trust property and made
a profit out of it. As cestui que trust they
had a right to see all the documents relat-
ing to the trust passiug between the trus-
tees, and this right could not be got rid of
by the employment by the one trustee of
the other as his solicitor. L.

(b) It was further urged that the plaintiff,
as representing the heir and one of the
next-of-kin of the testator, has a right to
see any documents relating to the trust as
being one of the cestui que trust. I assume
that the plaintiff is the representative of
the heir and next-of-kin, but it does not
follow that he is a cestui que trust. By the
will and codicils the property is expressed
to be given to the trustees and executors
absolutely free from any trust. The plain-
tiff’s case is put in the alternative. The first
alternativeis that the trustees and executors
took the property on the terms of a secret
trust, and that as such trust has failed
owing to its not having been sufficiently
defined or by reason of the statutes of

Mortmain, the representatives of the heir
and next-of-kin of the testator are entitled
to the property as on a resulting trust.
‘Whether there was such a secret trust,
which has failed, is a matter in dispute in
the action, and at present there is not even
a prima facie case that the plaintiff is a
cestui que trust on this ground. The second
alternative put forward by the plaintiff is
that the trustees and executors induced the
testator to leave the property to them by
frandualently leading him to believe they
would apply it for educational purposes in
accordance with his wishes, while in fact
they from the first intended to appropriate
it to themselves as it is alleged they have
done. No more serious charge could well
be put forward. It cannot be assumed to
be true for the purpose of cbtaining inspec-
tion of documents, and it is putting the
case with great moderation to say that the
appellant has not made out any prima facie
case of the truth of these charges. There
is a complete absence of evidence to show
that the appellant is in a position to claim
inspection on this ground, and there is noth-
ing to show that the ‘ proprietary right”
on which the appellant relies in fact exists.

" To establish any such right it would further

be necessary for the appellant to get rid of
the deed of release of the 21st December
1889. The release was given so long ago as
1889 and the fraud alleged has yet to be
proved. There is certainly no prima facie
case that it can be set aside, and so long as
the deed stands the appellant cannot be a
cestui que trust.

(c) The appellant also relied on the pro-
position that no privilege comes into exist-
ence with regard to communications made
in order to get advice for the purpose of
carrying out a frand.

This is _clear law, and if such guilty pur-
pose was in the client’s mind when he sought
the solicitor’s advice professional privilege
is out of the question. But it is not enough
to allege fraud. If the communications to
the solicitor were for the puipose of obtain-
in% professional advice, there must be in
order to get rid of privilege, not merely an
allegation that they were made for the pur-
pose of getting advice for the commission
of a fraud, but there must be something to
give colour to the charge. The statement
must be made in clear and definite terms,
and there must further be some prima facie
evidence that it has some foundation in fact.
It is with reference to cases of this kind that
it can be correctly said that the Court has
a discretion as to ordering inspection of
documents. It is obvious that it would be
absurd to say that the privilege could be got
rid of merely by making a charge of fraud.
The Court will exercise its discretion not
merely as to the terms in which the allega-
tion is made, but also as to the surrounding
circumstances, for the purpose of seein
whether the charge is made honestly an
with sufficient probability of its truth to
make it right to disallow the privilege of
professional communications. In the pre-
sent case it seems to me clear that the
appellant has not shown such a prima facie
case as would make it right to treatthe ¢claim
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of professional privilege as unfounded.

A great many cases were cited to your
Lordships on the question of professional
privilege, but I do not think it is necessary
to go through them. Bullivant's case ([1901]
A.C. 196) was cited by the respondents.
The question there arose not on application
for discovery but with regard to a witness
who was being examined under a commis-
sion from the Courts of New Zealand, and
who claimed professional privilege. The
House of Lords decided that in the absence
of a definite allegation of fraud the privi-
lege prevailed. The question, what more is
necessary to get rid of the privilege, was
not discussed.

For these reasons I agree witbh the Court
of Appeal in thinking that inspection should
in this case be refused on the ground of pro-
fessional privilege, subject to what I shall

. say as to item 434 later in the judgment.

The Court of Appeal thought that profes-
sional privilege was sufficient to dispose of
the case, and gave no judgment on the
second ground, which was thus stated in

ar. 4 of the further affidavit: — “To the

est of our knowledge, information, and
belief the said documents numbered 434 and
436 and (so far as we object to produce the
same) 437 either do not in any way relate
to the matters in issue in this action, or in
so far as they do relate to the same relate
solely to our case and to the case of our
said co-defendants and not to the case of
the plaintiff, and do not in any way tend to
support the plaintiff’s case or impeach our
own.” : .

This claim was rejected by Peterson, J.,
on the ground that on perusal by consent
of the documents in item 434, for which
amongst others this privilege had been
claimed, he thought that they might tend
to support the plaintiff's case to some
extent. He therefore declined to give effect
to this claim with respect to any documents,
as in his opinion the defendants’ affidavit
must have been made under a misconcep-
tion of the law applicable to this head of
privilege or a misapprehension of the effect
of the documents. I agree with the Court
of Appeal in thinking that this mistake as
to item 434 was not a sufficient reason for
treating this claim as unfounded in all cases.
This ground of privilege hasbeen elaborately
argued before us, and I propose to state the
conclusions at which I have arrived.

The grounds on which privilege under
this head was denied were—(1) That such
privilege is confined to documents which are
admissible in evidence; (2) that it sufficiently
appears in this case that the affidavit in
which this privilege is claimed is untrust-
worthy. There is no case confining privi-
lege of this kind to documents which are
admissible in evidence, and such a limita-
tion would be inconsistent with the prin-
ciple on which it rests.

A great many passages were cited from
‘Wigram on Discovery (2nd ed. 1840) in which
the documents which are the subject of
this privilege are described as ‘evidences,”
and it was urged that this showed that the
privilege could not be claimed in respect of
any document not admissible in evidence.

It is, however, a mistake to suppose that
“evidences” (an old phrase in English law)
necessarily denotes only documents which
are admissible in evidence. The principle
laid down by Wigram on Discovery (p. 264,
par. 346) is that a plaintiff is not entitled to
exact from the defendant any discovery
exclusively relating to his case or to the
evidence by means of which that case is to
be established. It is obvious, as Mr Tomlin
pointed out in his extremely clear and
cogent argument, that to exempt from
inspection only documents which are admis-
sible in evidence would leave open to inspec-
tion many documents which might reveal
what the case of the opponent is and the
evidence by means of which it is proposed
to establish it.

A party is entitled to get inspection of
any documents relating to his own case.
He is not entitled to see documents relating
exclusively to his opponent’s case in order
that he may prepare means of meeting it or
try to discover flaws in it. The whole of
the plaintiff’s argument on this head seems
to me to rest on a misconception of the
meaning of the terms “evidences"” as used
in this connection. Of course in a very
great number of cases the documents which
have come into question have been title-
deeds or other documents which are admis-
sible in evidence, but there is an entire
absence of authority to show that the privi-
lege is confined to such documents, and if
it were so confined the value of the privilege
would be greatly lessened. The affidavit
in the present case is in the form which has
been in use for a great many years, and
your Lordships are now in effect asked to
say that judges, counsel, and solicitors have
all failed to appreciate the law on a matter
of everyday practice, and that every affi-
davit which has been made claiming such
Erivilege within the memory of man has

een erroneous and insufficient. The pro-
position put forward on behalf of the appel-
lant on this head seems to me to be entirely
novel, erroneous in principle, and destitute
of authority.

I think the affidavit in the present case is
sufficient, and that if it were necessary to
rely on this head of privilege the defen-
dants have properly claimed it.

Some questions of a special nature have
arisen with regard to documents under
item 434. These documents consist of—(1)
A case and opinion of counsel taken on
behalf of the testator ; (2) a case and opinion
of counsel taken by the trustees and execu-
tors after the testator’s death.

In my opinion the appeal as to these docu-
ments should not have been entertained by
the Court of Appeal ; the decision of Peter-
son, J., with regard to them was not appeal-
able. Thelearned Judge wasinvited by the
defendants’ counsel to inspect these docu-
ments and to say whether they should be
produced. He did so and decided that the
plaintiff should see them. An order made
under the circumstances was in the nature
of an award, not a judgment.

The statement of Peterson, J., as to what
took place is set ont in the appendix. He
begins by touching on certain legal con-
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siderations, and points out that the plaintiff
could not claim to inspect the documents
under the second head of item 434. He
then says that the plaintiff also rested
his claim to inspect on the ground that
fraud was charged, and proceeds thus—
«WhetHer this is correct or not I need not
consider for the purpose of this part of the
case, as in both cases comprised in item 434
counsel for the defendants invited me to
peruse the two cases and opinions and say
whether in my judgment they ought to be
roduced. I bave done so, and although I
go pot say that the plaintiff will derive
much comfort and support from them, in
my opinion he ought to have the oppor-
tunity of seeing them.” ) i

There are of course mauny cases in which
documents are shown to the judge to give
him materials for his judgment and to form
an element for his appreciation of the case
as a judge. Peterson, J., in the passage
which I have quoted above expressly states
that he considers it unnecessary to deter-
mine a legal point which was raised as he
had been invited to say on perusing the
documents whether they should be pro-
duced. This seems to me to show that he
understood that he was invited to decide
summarily what should be done as a matter
of fairness and not to decide merely on legal
considerations. In other words, that he was
to arbitrate. His language is quite unequi-
vocal and his decision would be appealable
only if it appeared that he had misunder-
stood the effect of what passed before him.
“ A reference to the proceedings as set out
in the supplemental appendix shows I think
that he was quite right. . .

At the beginning of the discussion as to
this item the counsel for the respondents
gaid— Now so far as item 434 is concerned,
although our views are that we have good
grounds for resisting the production of
those—[those are the two opinions]—we are
quite content that your Lordship should see
those, and if your Lordship thinks that
they ought to be produced, then they shall
be produced, so that I need not trouble
about the principle concerned there.”

This to my mind is a clear statement that
the respondents would produce the docu-
ments if the learned Judge on seeing them
thought they ought to be produced, and on
this basis the parties dispensed with dis-
cussion of principle. Theundertaking that
the documents should be produced if the
Judge on seeing them thought that they
ought to be produced is_quite inconsistent
with there being any right of appeal from
his decision on this point.

Later in the argument respondents’ coun-
sel said—* If the views I put before your
Lordship are sound, Isubmit that this appli-
cation must fail except so far as your Lord-
ghip thinks it is proper that they should
succeed on those two cases. Perhaps I may
hand those up. [Same handed to his Lord-
ship.] Those are item 434, and if your Lord-
ship thinks that the notes and memoranda
in item 4385 are not sufficiently claimed we
do not mind their seeing those, but with
regard to all the rest I submit that the
claim must fail.”

Then tollowed a discussion in which coun-
sel on both sides took part as to whether it
was desirable that the Judge should have
the drafts as well as the cases themselves,
and in answer to an observation from the
other side as to the case submitted to Mr
Theobald the respondents’ counsel said —
“ My friend must not take it in that way.
If it is going to be disputed I submit there
is great dispute about the first. I invite
your Lordship. to look at them. As a
matter of fact your Lordship will see that
that was a case to advise, amongst others,
the executors nominated personally. Even
if my friend relies upon Russell v. Jackson
((1851) 9 Hare 387, 10 Hare 204) that would
not necessarily avail him. It would apply
to the right which they might have with
regard to advice they had taken for
themselves personally. I am leaving it in
your Lordship’s hands. Ido notin the least
admit that the first case is a clear case.”

These passages appear to me to show
clearly that the matter was left in his Lord-
ship’s hands to determine summarily and
not in the ordinary way as a judge, and
they are in conformity with the view which
he himself took of his functions under the
consent of the parties.

At the close of the judgment Peterson, J.,
went through the documents with counsel,
stating that the documents to be produced
included both cases in item 434. The defen-
dants’ counsel then asked for leave to appeal
““in regard to such parts of your decision as
are against us,” which Peterson, J., granted,
nothing being said by anyone as to except-
ing from the appeal the decision as to item
435. But I do not think that this can alter
the effect of what had taken place before the
decision, The leave to appeal can operate
only on what is appealable. The question
is not whether the parties entered into an
express agreement that there should be no
appeal, but whether they took a course
which is inconsistent with the existence of
a right to appeal. The fact that general
leave to appeal was given may have been
due to inadvertence, or to the fact that the
parties had not present to their minds at
the moment the effect in this respect of the
course which had been adopted.

I should add that the perfect good faith of
counsel in this matter is beyond question.
The only point raised is as to the legal effect
on the right to appeal of what passed.

In Bustros v. White (1876,1 Q. B.D. 423) Sir
George Jessel, M.R., delivering the judg-
ment of the Court of Appeal, said that where
to avoid further affidavits the Judge at the
desire of both parties has looked into the
documents himself and decided whether
they should be produced, it is not com-
petent to either party to appeal (p. 427).
The view so expressed by an exceptionally
strong Court of Appeal, consisting of eight
Judges (Jessel, M.R., Kelly, C.B., James,
and Mellish, L.JJ., Baggalay, J.A., Lush
and Denman, JJ., and Pollock, B.) has
never, so far as T am aware, been dissented
from and in my opinion it is right. It
agpears to me to be directly applicable to
the factsof the present case in which this
course was taken to avoid alegal argument.
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I cannot agree with the view expressed
by Bankes, L.J., that Peterson, J., was
asked to look at the documents merely in
order that he might see whether the claim
of privilege on the ground that they related
only to the defendants’ case was justified.
Such a view is in conflict with what took

lace on the argument, and is contradicted

y the terms in which Peterson, J., in his
jllldgment gave his view on what had taken

ace.
pr the right to inspection of the docu-
ments 434 had to be determined by legal
considerations applicable in cases where the

arties have not consented to cut the knot
in the fashion adopted here, I think that
as to the documents under head (1) the
appellant would succeed, and that he would
fail as to those under head (2).

As to (1) the case was submitted to counsel
and his opinion taken in the lifetime of the
testator. Both the plaintiff and the defen-
dants claim under the testator, the plaintiff
as representing their heir and the next-of-
kin, the defendants as representing his trus-
tees and executors under his will. The
foundation of the law of professional privi-
lege is that it is necessary in order that a

erson may be able without danger to make
Full disclosure to his professional advisers.
It follows that as between him or his repre-
sentatives and third persons claiming not
under the testator but adversely to him, the
rivilege exists, but as was pointed out by
I1"urner, V.C., in Russell v. Jackson (1851,
9 Hare 387 and 10 Hare 207) the reason
of the privilege does not exist in the
case of competition between persons all
claiming under the testator, as the dis-
closure in the latter case can affect no right
or interest of the client. The bill in that
case was filed by the next-of-kin against the
executors of the deceased, who were also his
residuary legatees and alleged that the gift
of the property was made upon a secret
trust for the foundation of a school and
that the defendants were trustees for the
heir-at-law and next-of-kin—(See judgment
10 Hare, pp. 207, 208). The solicitor to the
testator, who after his death became solici-
tor to the executors, was examined under
commission, and a motion was made to
suppress parts of his deposition on the
ound of professional confidence. It was
eld that the communications between the
testator and his solicitor might be read, but
that the communications between the
executors and the solicitor after the death
of the testator were privileged. The Vice-
Chancellor gives his reasons at length (9
Hare, p. 391-3). Bankes, L.J., in his judg-
ment says —* With reference to the case
and opinion in the lifetime of the testator,
in my opinion that first case is covered by
the conclusion which Peterson, J., arrived
at in another part of his judgment, namely,
that a person who claimsa document under
a proprietary right must first of all jestab-
lis‘ix the existence of that right, and that
not having been done in this case it appears
to me that the plaintiff must fail in his
claim with reference to that first case.” This
rule has no application to the point under
discussion. Xs was explained by Turner,

V.C., in the case just cited it is not by
‘ proprietary ri%ht ” that the privilege is
negatived but by the fact that as both
claim under the testator the ground of this
kind of privilege fails. ;

The production of the documents under
head (ll; could not be resisted on the second
ground put forward by the defendants—
namely, that they relate only to the defen-
dants’ case, Peterson, J., himself inspected
these documents and came to the conclusion
that they related in part to the plaintiff’s
case.

With regard to head (2) under 434 pro-
fessional privilege would have prevented
any right to inspect. The parties have,
however, taken a course which makes it
unnecessary to consider these legal ques-
tions.

The Court of Appeal reversed the order
of Peterson, J., in foto. By some inadvert-
ence it was not realised that this order
would exempt from inspection in item 435
‘“memoranda and notes of evidence in
actions,” and in item 437 “draft and fair
copies, bill of costs July 1882 to December 1886,
and diaries before the 22nd January 1887,”
for which protection had not been claimed.
These matters should be set right and for
the reasons I have given I think that the
appeal ought to be allowed under item 434
as regards the cases and opinions both in
the lifetime of the testator and after his
death d’ otherwise the appeal should be dis-
missed.

LorD SuMNER-—This appeal has raised
three questions which, as they were copi-
ously and earnestly argued and go to the
root of long-settled practice, require a
reasoned solution, though I do not imagine
that the answer to them could ever have
been in doubt. These %uestions are— (1)
Does a pleaded charge of fraud strip those
against whom it is made of the ordinary
right to rely on professional privilege as a
grcund for resisting production of docu-
ments? (2) Is that privilege taken away

.because the relation of solicitor and client,

on which it rests, arises between persons
who are trustees and executors, and are in
effect parties to the action? (8) Is the
claim to refuse production of documents on
the ground that they do not support his
opponent’s case but only his own, a claim
which is available solely for such documents
as the claimant could give in evidence in
support of his own case?

(1) No one doubts that the claim for pro-
fessional privilege does not apply to docu-
ments which have been brought into exist-
ence in the course of or in furtherance of a
fraud to which both solicitor and client are
parties. To consult a solicitor about an
intended course of action, in order to be
advised whether it is legitimate or not, or
to lay before a solicitor the facts relating to
a charge of fraud, actually made or antici-
pated, and make a clean breast of it with
the object of being advised about the best
way in which to meet it, is a very different
thing from consulting him in order to learn
how to plan, execute, or stifle an actual
fraud. . No one doubts again that you can
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neither try out the issue in the action on a
mere interlocutory proceeding, nor require
the claimant to carry the issue raised to a
successful trial before he can obtain pro-
duction of documents which are only rele-
vant to that issue and only sought for the
purpose of proving it. I am, however, sure
that it is equally clear in principle that no
mereallegation of a fraud, even thoughmade
in the most approved form of pleading, will
suffice in itself to overcome a claim of pro-
fessional privilege properly formulated.

North, J., in the first of the grounds of
decision in In re Postlethwaite (35 Ch. D. 722)
seems to have otherwise held. I think that
he overlooked the fact that in one of the
cases which he relied upon no fraud
appeared on the pleadings at all, and that
in the other numerous facts had already
been admitted or ascertained. So far I
think that his decision was wrong.

If the dicta in Bullivant’s case of Romer,
L.J. ([1900] 2 Q.B. at p. 169) and of Lord
Davey ([1901] A.C. at p. 203) are to be read
as supporting such a view, I think they
ought not to be followed. As I read the
opinion of Lord Halsbury, he clearly holds
that a prima facie case must be *“ made out”
without purporting to define in what
“mode” this is to be done, and without
sanctioning a mere pleaded allegation as
sufficient. The right of the one party to
have discovery and inspection and the
right of the other, within certain areas, to
be protected from inspection, are parallel
rights ; in itself neither is paramount over
the other. It is therefore the business of
the party claiming production to meet a

roperly framed claim of professional privi-
ege by showing that the privilege does not
attach, because it is being asserted for docu-
ments which were brought into existence
in furtherance of a fraud, and he can only
do this by establishing a prima facie case
of fraud in fact. Evidence, admission, infer-
ence, from circumstances which are common
ground, or *“what not,” as Lord Halsbury
says, may serve for this purpose. I do not
pretend to define what material may and
what may not be used. The imperfections
of his pleadings or the dubious character of
his procedure in the action may militate
against the claimant’s case. The fact that
a motion to strike out his pleadings has
been made and has failed does not estublish
that he has a sufficient prima facie case
for this purpose. The stage in this action
is only an interlocutory one and the
materials must be weighed, such as they
are, without the apparatus of a formal frial
of an issue. On such materials the court
must judge whether the claim of privilege
is displaced or not.

This is, as I understand it, the view taken
by the Court of Appeal, though expressed
in somewhat different language. It is not
my business even to form any opinion now
as to the plaintiff’s prospects at the trial,
but I see no ground for thinking that on
the material before it the Comrt of Appeal
was not justified in holding that no suf-
ficient foundation had been laid for setting
aside the respondents’ claim of professional
privilege.

-

(2) The necessity which has sometimes
been said to be the foundation for the
claim of professional privilege is not the
necessity for confiding in the particular
solicitor consulted, but the necessity for
letting a litigant confide in some solicitor.
It is equally obvious that this principle
involves allowing the litigant to choose his
own solicitor and to consult the person in
whom he feels confidence. To limit the
persons among whom he can choose might
be to deny him a choice. To say that if he
chooses to consult a co-executor he does so
on the terms that their writbten communi-
cations will be open to his opponent, so
penalises that particular choice that in
effect it is a prohibition. For reasons
stated later I say nothing of the special
case when a solicitor and client are execu-
tors of a will under which the party claim-
ing production is a beneficiary, but T do not
wish to be understood as accepting the
appellant’s argument, which I think it
irrelevant at present to discuss,.

(8) No case has been cited which decides
that the right to refuse production of rele-
vant documents, on the ground that they
only support the possessor’s case, is limited
to ‘““evidences” of his case in the sense that
they are such as could be put in evidence
by him and form part of his title. Before
the Judicature Acts many cases were
decided on claims to refuse production of
documents which their possessor might
have put in evidence, and none are forth-
coming, it seems, in which the documents
could not have been so used. The two cases
which were said to have decided the point
—Knight v. Waterford (Margquis of), 1836,
2Y. &C,, Ex. 22, and Hey v. De la Hey, 1886,
‘W. N. 101-—turn out on examination to be
decisions on pther grounds. Very little can
be inferred from such a condition of the
reported authorities. It may be accidental.
In any case the point turns on different
considerations. The orders and rules made
under the statutory authority of the Judi-
cature Acts are the code which is para-
mount in matters which they regulate.
The same word “relate” is used in them in
connection with the obligation to make dis-
covery by affidavit and ,with the right to
refuse production on the specified ground in
question. In terms neither is limited,
and relevancy and that alone is the test.
In substance that must be so as to dis-
covery, and no reason has been suggested
why it should not equally be so as to privi- -
lege from production, and for many years
this has been regarded as settled practice.
The contrary would work injustice. I think
the appellant’s contention fails,

As to the questions arising upon item 434
the two cases for the opinion of counsel and
the opinions of counsel thereon 1 am not
disposed to allow the appeal. If the docu-
ments were submitted to the learned Judge
in order that he might decide once for all
whether they should be produced or not
his decision could not be appealed (Bustros
v. White, 1 Q.B.D. at p. 427), but the reason
for this must be that both parties have so
intended. The goinb request of both parties
that the learned Judge should inspect the



O'Rourke v Darbishire& Ors. | Thhe Scottish Law Reporter—Vol. LVII.

Feb, 26, 1920,

737

documents for himself would in itself raise
a presumption ‘that the intention was to
submit them for his final decision, but the
special language used may negative that.
Contrary to the respondents’ contention I
think in the present case the language used
would not in itself negative that presump-
tion, though it is true that after the judg-
ment of Peterson, J., was given counsel for
the now respondent said—** Will your Lord-
ship give us leave to appeal in regard to
suc% parts of your decision as are against
us ? ” which included these particular docu-
ments, and leave was given, and at the
request of the other sidewas made “mutual.”
The case, however, goes further. If the
learned Judge’s decision is unappealable it
is because the parties have agreed that it
should be so, and here this is in dispute. Mr
Tomlin says that whatever words he used
this never was his meaning. The agree-
ment whatever it was never was reduced
into writing and signed, and in themselves
the words are susceptible of more than one
interpretation. It has not been contended
for the appellant that by accepting Mr
Tomlin’s language in the wider sense his
position jhas in any way been changed on
the faith of the words being so intended
and understood, and the question therefore
is whether there was any consensus ani-
morum between counsel if the decision Mr
Tomlin asked for was meant to be appeal-
able, and the decision Mr Hughes assented
to take was understood to be unappealable.
This controversy has been raised before
the Court of Appeal and in substance de-
cided. Such a case must be exceptional,
and I think must be rare and must depend
mainly upon the statements of counsel. It
is hardly a matter suitable for appeal to
your Lordships’ House, and I see no. suffi-
cient reason for interfering with the deter-
mination of it at which the Court of Appeal
arrived. )
There is a further point as to the opinion
of counsel, No 1 of No 434. It was taken in
the lifetime of the testator, and though the
defendants’ first affidavit covers it by the
description ‘“Cases and instructions to coun-
sel to advise the executors of Sir Joseph
Whitworth as to his will and codicils, and
counsel’s opinion and notes thereon,” their
second affidavit showed that it consisted of
communications * between the testator and
his counsel,” and only the second is said to
have been between counsel and the execu-
tors. The Lords Justices examined the
documents in the first item as Peterson, J.,
had done. They agree with Peterson, J.,
that they might be used to support the
plaintiff’s case, and one of the grounds on
which protection was claimed fails accor-
dingly, but they go on to say that the claim
of professional privilege covers them. This
is the claim of the client, and if the testator
alone was the client I do not quite see how
the defendants could set up professional
privilege. It may be, however, that the
proposed executors and legatees joined in
taking this opinion, I have not seen the
papers. Peterson, J., rejected the claim to
refuse production, partly on what has beerr
called the ‘proprietary” ground, partly
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because he thought that no professional
privilege can be claimed between to-execu-
tors, e does not negative the possibility
that the proposed executors were also Mr
Theobald’s clients in the matter, and if so,
the view of Bankes and Warrington, L.JJ.,
would be explained. Iam not satisfied that
your Lordships should interfere. It is a
question of particular documents, not of
general principle.

The remaining matters relate to the ap-
Flicabion of well-settled rules to the particu-
ar facts of this case in a mere interlocutory
proceeding. I agree that the appellant has
no claim to see these documents, including
the first of the two cases for opinion in No.
434, except under the law relating to dis-
covery, because while the releases obtained
by ¢ Whitworth’s executors” stand, to say
nothing of the fourth codicil, he cannot
claim to see them as being his documents in
any sense. I am satisfied that if the two
letters dated 30th December 1895 and 26th
January 1895 have been wrongly appreciated
by the respondents in relation to discovery
(which I by no means decide) their error
has not been such as to cast doubt on their
general understanding or observance of
their obligations, or to vitiate their claims
to withhold disclosure in respect of other
documents.

In drawing up the order of the Court of
Appeal an error has been made as to which
I think the respondents have been to blame,
and might well have been made liable in
costs to some extent, but as two of your
Lordships think differently, as the appellant
has already seen some of the documents
which the order has erroneously dealt with,
and as counsel has undertaken for the pro-
duction of the others when requested, and
as the order being interlocutory is only of
importance as affecting production, I acqui-
esce in their views.

T agree that the appeal should be dismissed
with costs.

LorD PARMOOR—Sir Joseph Whitworth
died in January 1887, seized or possessed of
real or personal estate of great value. The
appellant is the legal personal representa-
tive of Fanny Uniacke, who was the heiress-
at-law and one of the two next-of-kin of the
testator. The respondents are the respec-
tive legal personal representatives of the
executors of Sir Joseph Whitworth. The
action related to the estate and testamen-
tary disposition of Sir Joseph Whitworth,
and the plaintiff charged that there was
either a secret trust or that the executors
took the residuary real and personal estate
for their own absolute use and benefit, and
that the form in which the testamentary
disposition was arranged or settled was a
mere fraudulent device or scheme for appro- -

riating to the use of the executors a very
arge portion of the estate of the testator.
It is not necessary to determine how far the
action is well constituted, so long as the
probate of the will and codicils of the testa-
tor have not been recalled. The appeal
must be determined on the pleadings as
they stand. The question is whether an
order for production of the documents con-
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tained in the second part of the schedule of
documerits should be made. These docu-
ments relate to the matters in question in
the action, but their production is refused
on the ground that they are privileged
either as being documents which consist
solely of professional communications of a
confidential nature, which for the purpose of
obtaining legal advice have passed between
the executors and their solicitors, or on the
ground that the documents either do not in
any way relate to the matters in issue in
this action, or in so far as they do relate,
relate solely to the case of the defendants
and not to the case of the plaintiff, and do
not in any way tender a support to the
plaintiff’s case or impeach that of the defen-
dants. In form this privilege is sufficiently
claimed, but it was urged on behalf of the
appellants that over a long period of years
the meaning of the claim for privilege on
the ground that the documents related
exclusively to the case of the defendants had
been misunderstood, and that the privilege
only extended to such documents as might
be admissible in evidence to support, the
defendant’s case. The claim for privilege
was disputed by the appellant on various
grounds, and the guestion for determina-
tion is whether and how far these objections
raised on behalf of the appellant can be
- maintained.

A cestui que trust in an action against his
trustees is generally entitled to the produe-
tion for inspection of all documents relating
to the affairs of the trust. It is not material
for the present purpose whether this right
is to be regarded as a paramount proprie-
tary right in the cestui que trust or as a
right to be enforced under the law of dis-
covery, since in both cases an essential
preliminary is either the admission or the
establishment of the status on which the
right is based. Iagreein the view expressed
by Peterson, J., that the rule as to the right
of a cestui que trust to the production of
trust documents for inspection does not
apply when the question to be tried in the
action is whether the plaintiff is a cestuique
trust or not. In the present case not only
is the status of the appellant as a cestui que
trust disputed, but in addition a release was
executed, which unless it can be set aside is
a bar to his claim. It is not necessary to
consider on what grounds the release is
attacked, but it is obvious that there may
be formidable difficulties in the way of the
appellant under this head. The attention of
your Lordships is directed to various autho-
rities, bnt it is sufficient to refer to Wynne
v. Humberston, 1858, 27 Beav. 421, and to
Compton v. Earl Grey, 1826,1 Y. & J. 154.

The second point raised on behalf of the
appellant was gased on the proposition that
professional privilege does not apply to a
case in which a solicitor who is a trustee
has acted as professional adviser to himself
and his co-trustees, who are co-defendants
in the action. It was not contended that
this principle would apply where profes-
sional advice was taken on a personal
matter affecting one of the trustees, but in
the present case the affidavit of documents
shows that the privilege is claimed in

respect of documents which do relate to the
trust matters in question. It is notorious
that in many cases solicitors are appointed
as co-trustees with full power to act as solici-
tors in their professional capacity in rela-
tion to trust matters, and to make in respect
thereof ordinary professional charges.

As a matter of principle, it is difficult to
understand why confidential communica-
tions made to a solicitor in his professional
capacity should cease to be privileged
because such solicitor has been appointed
as a co-trustee by the testator with a power
to act as solicitor in the affairs of the trust.
There is no less necessity in such a case to
protect in the interests of justice such a
disclosure of the facts and conditions as is
required to obtain professional and confi-
dential advice. To hold otherwise would
deprive a lay trustee of a privilege which
would attach to communications made to
an outside solicitor, with the result that it
might be necessary for him to take such
advice in preference to that of the solicitor
especially cognisant of the trust affairs. It
is not a relevant consideration that com-
munications between co-defendants, none
of whom are solicitors, are not privileged.
In the argument on behalf of the appellant
reliance was placed on the case of In re
Postlethwaite, 35 Ch. D. 722. In this case
the plaintiff, who sought the production of
documents, was undoubtedly a beneficiary.
Further, a charge was made in the state-
ment of claim that the purchase in the
name of a third person was a fraudulent
device intended to cover up a real purchase
by one of the two trustees. As to this it is
not necessary to say more since the decision
turned on the special circumstances of the
case. I agree with Warrington, L.J., that
the claim to have the documents produced
was placed on the proprietary right of the
plaintiff, and not on the ground that the
claim of privilege was destroyed owing to
the fact that the solicitor consulted was also
a co-trustee. If, however, the judgment of
North, J., can be extended to cover the
claim made by the plaintiff in this case the
principle is stated in too wide terms and
cannot be maintained.

The third point relied on by the appellant
as an answer to the claim of professional
privilege is that the present case comes
within the principle that such privilege
does not attach where a fraud has been
concocted between a solicitor and his client,
or where advice has been given to a client
by a solicitor in order to enable him to carry
through a fraudulent transaction. If the
present case can be brought within this
principle there will be no professional pri-
vilege, since it is no part of the profes-
sional duty of a solicitor either to take
Egrt in the concoction of fraud or to advise

is client how to carry through a fraud.
Transactions and communications for such
purposes cannot be said to pass in profes-
sional confidence in the course of profes-
sional employment. Such a case must be

| differentiated from a case in which after

the commission of a crime, or in order to
meet a charge of fraud made against him
in a civil action, a client consults a solicitor
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in his professional capacity, employing him
to obtain the benefit of his confidential
advice and assistance. The appellant does
make in his pleadings a charge that a fraud
has been concocted between the solicitor
and client, and the question which arises is
whether such a prima facie case of a defi-
nite character has in some way been brought
to the notice of the Court as to justify the
Court in holding that the appellant has the
ordinary right of production of documents
relating to his case, the defendents in re-
spect of such production not bringing them-
selves within the protection of professional
privilege.

It may be that the allegations in the
statement of claim, apart from any other
source of information, are sufficiently ex-
plicit to negative the claim of professional
privilege, but the proposition that the mere
pleading of fraud is in itself sufficient neces-
sarily to defeat the claim of professional
privilege cannot be maintained. To admit
this proposition would be equivalent to say-
ing that the claim to protection for profes-
sional privilege—a claim founded in the
interest of the proper administration of
justice—could be defeated by the'skill of a
pleader and the use of technical language
whenever it was desired to obtain an inspec-
tion of documents otherwise privileged in
‘the expectation of the discovery by this
means of information to support a charge
of fraud. On the other hand in order to
obtain the production of documents it is
certainly not necessary to prove the exist-
ence of fraud, and such an obligation might
result in the non-production of documents
which in a particular instance might con-
stitute the only evidence on which the
plaintiff relied to establish his case.

In the case of Bullivant v. Atlorney-
General for Victoria ([1901] A.C. at p.
201) Lord Halsbury in advising the House
says — “The line which the Courts have
hitherto taken and I hope will preserve is
this —that in order-to displace the prima
facie right of silence by a witness who has
been put in the relation of professional con-
fidence with his client, before that confi-
dence can be broken you must have some
definite charge either by way of allegation,
or affidavit, or what not.” This passage
relates to the giving of evidence before com-
missioners, but there is no difference in the
principle applicable in such a case and the

rinciple applicable to the production of
gocuments on an interlocutory application.
‘Whether the circumstances brought to the
notice of the Court in a particular case are
sufficiently explicit to establish a prima
facie case of definite fraud either by allega-
tion, affidavit, or in some other way, will
depend on special facts in each case—Reg.
v. Cox and Railton,1884,14 Q.B.D. 153. But
something more is required than mere plead-
ing, or than mere surmise or conjecture. If
in the present appeal there is disclosed a
real prima facie case of definite fraud, this
-must be found in the allegations contained
in the pleadings and particulars, seeing that
there has been no affidavit and no informa-
tion from any othersource. Inthestatement
of claim fraud is alleged as an alternative

to a secret trust, on the ground that the
form in which the testamentary disposition
of the testator was settled Or arranged by
Christie and Darbishire was a mere fraudu-
lent device or scheme for appropriating to
the use of Whitworth’s executors a very
large portion of the testator’s estate. This
allegation is not supported by the statement
of any facts which might give positiveness
or distinctness to the charge, but rests on
nothing more than pleading or mere sur-
mise and conjecture. In my opinion this is
insufficient either to support the right of -
the appellant to inspection or to defeat the
claim of the defendant to the protection of
professional privilege, and I agree with the
decision arrived at by the Court of Appeal
under this head. I desire to add that the
refusal of the Court to strike out the state-
ment of claim on the application of the
defendants does not of itself establish any
case of prima facie fraud or make the case
other than one of mere surmise and con-
jecture.

The next question for consideration is
whether the claim of privilege has been
sufficiently made in the statement that the
documents relate solely to the case of the
defendants and not to the case of the plain-
tiff, and do not in any way tend to support
the plaintiff's case or impeach that of the
defendants. It wasargued on behalf of the
plaintiff that to support the claim for privi-
lege the documents must be such as might
be admissible in evidence to support the
case of the defendants. T think that this-is
an impossible contention, and that to assent
to it would be to admit a proposition which
is not supportable either in principle or by
authority. The affidavit for discovery of
documents includes all documents in the
possession and power of the deponent which
relate to the matter in question and clearly
is not limited only to such documents as
may be admissible in evidence. Such a limi-
tation would destroy in great part the value
of discovery ; but if documents must be dis-
closed in the affidavit of documents indepen-
dently of whether they are admissible in
evidence or not, it is difficult to suggest any
reason why the claim of privilege against
production should not cover the same docu-
ments. For instance the copy of a docu-
ment, although not in itself admissible in
evidence, comes within the same category
as the original document in so far as con-
cerns the privilege of production, but if
there were an obligation to produce, it would
give the same information as the document
itself, though such a document would itself
be protected on the ground that it is admis-
sible in evidence. This novel doctrine
assumes that the word “relate” can be
read as synonymous to admissible in evi-
dence—an assumption for which there is
no warrant.

The attention of your Lordships was
called to a number of passages in the works
of Hare and Sir J. Wigram. Itisnotneces-
sary to consider these passages in detail, but
I can find none which support the proposi-
tion that there is no privilege attaching to
documents which relate exclusively to the
case of one party to an action, unless such
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documents may be admissible in evidence
in support of his case. To quote one passage
to the contrary from Sir J. Wigram’s book,
p- 264— A plaintiff is not entitled to exact
from the defendant any discovery exclu-
sively relating to his case, or of the evi-
dence by means of which that case is to
be established.”

Numerous authorities were quoted to your
Lordships in the argument on behalf of the
plaintiff, but there is no case which holds
that a document not admissible in evidence

. is outside the claim of privilege although
such document relates solely to the oppo-
nent’s case and not to the case of the party
seeking production -— Bewicke v. Graham
(7 Q.B.D. 400) is a direct authority that the
claim of privilege is sufficiently made in the
form similar to that used in the present
case. Compare Budden v. Wilkinson,
[1893] 2 Q.B. 432.

The only cases which could present any
difficulty are Knight v. Marquis of Water-
ford, 2 Y. & C. Ex. 22, and Hey v. D¢ la
Hey, 1886 W.N. 101. 1 have had the advan-
tage of reading the opinion expressed by
Lord Wrenbury on these cases and desire
to express my entire concurrence. It was
further argued that the affidavit filed on
behalf of the defendants was on its face
untrustworthy. This argument raises no
question of principle, but there appears to
be no adequate reason for displacing the
oath of Mr Darbishire. The test to be
applied is well stated in the case of Roberts
v. Oppenheim (1884, 26 Ch. D. 724) by Cotton,
L.J.—*We ought not to speculate in order
to get rid of the protection claimed, and we
ought to accept the affidavit as conclusive
unless the Court can see distinctly that the
oath of the party cannot be relied on.”

In the course of his exhaustive argument
My Hughes handed in for the convenience
of your Lordships a chart of the documents.
Documents 434 (1) if privileged from pro-
duction are only so privileged as documents
which relate entirely to the case of the
defendants — Documents 434 (2) may be
privileged either under the claim of profes-
sional privilege or as documents which
relate entirely to the case of the defendants.
These: documents were inspected by the
learned Judge, and it was argued that he
acted as arbitrator between the parties
with their consent, and that no_appeal
would lie against the order for production.
The matter is not free from doubt, and
there was a difference in the understanding
of the two counsel both of whom with
evident sincerity referred to what passed
before the learned Judge at the trial. It is
sufficient to say that I am not prepared to
differ from the conclusion of the Court of
Appeal. - The order of the Court of Appeal
includes documents, to the production of
which the counsel for the defendants agreed
in the hearing before Peterson, J., and on
which no appeal was opened in the Court
of Appeal, and documents for which no
privilege was claimed in the affidavit.of
Mr Darbishire. The order should be that,
the respondents undertaking to produce
these documents, the appeal should be dis-
missed with costs,

LorD WRENBURY — As legal personal
representative of the heiress-at-law and one
of the next-of-kin of the testator the plain-
tiff claims to be entitled to certain part of
the testator’s estate. His claim is made not,
under the will but upon the footing of an
intestacy as regards so much of the estate
as upon the face of the will was gjven to
the three executors absolutely in equal
third shares. If he is right the executors
are trustees for him and none the less by
reason of the fact that he claims not under
a gift contained in the will but by reason
of there being, as he says, no effectual bene-
ficial gift there contained. The executors
are trustees for whomsoever is beneficially
entitled to the testator’s property.

If the plaintiff is right in saying that he
is a beneficiary, and if the documents are
documents belonging to the executors as
executors, he has a right to access to the
documents which he desires to inspect upon
what has been called in the judgments in
this ‘case a proprietary right. The bene-
ficiary is entitled to see all trust docu-
ments because they are trust documents
and because he is a beneficiary. They are
in this sehse his own. Action or no action
he is entitled to access to them, This has
nothing to do with discovery. The right to
discovery is a right to see someone else’s
documents. The proprietary right is a’
right to access to documents which are
your own. No question of professional .
privilege arises in such a case. 'Documents
containing professional advice taken by the
executors as trustees contain advice taken
by trustees for their cestui que trust, and
the beneficiaries are entitled to see them
because they are beneficiaries. The first
case in Talbot v. Marshfield (1865, 2 Dr. &
Sm. 549) is an instance.

But this plaintiff cannot as matters stand
say that he is a beneficiary. That is the
very question to be determined in the litiga-
tion. Before he can establish that he is a
cestui que trust he has two difficulties to
surmount. The one is that he must estab-
lish that there is property undisposed of by
the will. The will on its face purports to
dispose absolutely of the whole. He says
there was a secret trust, that this trust
failed, and that the funds in the hands of
the executorsare, as between them and him,
bound by a trust which he can enforce, viz.,
a trust for those who would be entitled if
the secret trust failed as he saysit did. One
question at issue in the action is whether
there was any such seoret trust or whether
the executors are right in saying as they do
that the property was given absolutely to
them in equal third shares. The other
difficulty is that Mrs Uniacke (as whose
legal personal representative he sues) exe-
cuted on the 2Ist November 1889 a re-
lease which laid the above question at
rest in a manner fatal to his claim, and
unless and until he succeeds in setting that
release aside he has no claim to any part of
the estate. That release is thirty years old,
the parties to it are dead. Evidence has
thus been lost, and there is no presumption
that it will be, and no prima facie case made
to lead to the belief that it will be, set aside.



O'Rourkl‘g v. Darbishire & Ors.

eb. 26, 1920.

The Scottish Law Reporter— Vol, L V1/,

741

In this state of facts the plaintiff cannot
assert a proprietary right to the documents
on the footing that they are his, and cannot
enforce inspection on that ground. Ifautho-
rity be needed, Wynne v. Humberston (27
Beav. 421) is clear authority upon the point.

This being so the plaintiff must succeed,
if at all, upon the ground that he has a
right to discovery of the documents—a right
to inspect them nothwithstanding they are
not his—because they relate to the matters
in question in the action. Prima facie he
is entitled to inspection on that ground. It
is for the defendants to show valid grounds
for protecting them fromw inspection. The
grounds upon which they resist inspection
have to be considered under three heads.

The first is professional privilege. As to
this the plaintiff says—There is no profes-
sional privilege,becausethesolicitorwho was
consulted was himself one of the trestees.
In my opinion this confention cannot be
supported. Professional privilege is based
upon public policy. Itisconsidered that for
purposes of justice a client ought to be in a
position to go to his solicitor and be wholly
untrammelled_in sEea,king to him without,
any reserve ; that he ought to be in a posi-
tion to obtain his advice, and that all this
should be done under the veil of professional
confidence, Lord Brou%ham in Greenough
v. Gaskell (1833, 1 My. & K. 98) gives the true
foundation of the doctrine. 1 seeno ground
of principle why this should be affected b
the fact that the solicitor is a co-trustee wit
the client. The appellant says that the solici-
tor trustee is bound to answer the cestui que
trust as to any matter relating to the trust.
So he is, unless he is constrained by some
superior duty. To say that professional
confidence is not a superior duty is to beg
the question. If the trustee who is not
solicitor is asked the question he is entitled
to claim privilege, for otherwise public
policy would be defeated in compelling him
to answer. His privilege cannot lapse
because the solicitor whom he consults owes
a duty to another. And if the trustee who
is solicitor is asked he is entitled: to reply
that he is constrained by the privilege of his
client which he is not entitled to break.
But, says the appellant, the trustee should
have gone to some other solicitor. In the

present case the testator in fact by his first .

codicil authorised the trustee solicitor to act
as solicitor to the trust. But I do not rely
on this as differentiating the case. There
is nothing wrong in employing a co-trustee
as solicitor. If privilege would bave existed
if the solicitor had not been trustee I can-
not see anything that-will destroy privilege
when he is. Other considerations would
arise if the case made were that the trustees
were conspiring to defraud the trust, for it
is no part of a solicitor’s duty to advise his
client how to commit a fraud. This is a
separate ground which I shall deal with
presently. .
The appellant relies on In re Postlethwasite,
35 Ch. D. 722. The case differs from the
present in material particulars.” The plain-
tiff there was a cestui que trust; there was
no question about that. He had a proprie-
tary right, and had that right to see every

.

document in the trustees’ hands which had
been obtained bYl them as trustees. Pro-
tection could only be claimed (and it was
claimed) on the ground that the documents
came into existence on an occasion when
the lay trustee was consulting the solicitor
trustee not as solicitor to the trust but as
his private solicitor. The illustration given
by North, J., in In re Postlethwaite upon his
second ground is far from convincing. Not
everything that is said at a professional
interview between solicitor and client is
privileged any more than the whole of a
letter, some part of which contains. pro-
fessional advice and other part bears no
such character, is privileged,

In my opinion this plaintiff, who cannot
at present affirm that he is, or even say that
he has established a prima facie case that
he is, a cestui que trust, cannot succeed on
the %round of proprietary right, and cannot.
on the mere ground that the solicitor wasa
co-trustee exclude the privilege if in other
respects it is rightly claimed.

The second question for consideration is
whether privilege has rightly been claimed -
by the defendants on the ground that the
documents relate solely to the defendants’
case and not to the case of the plaintitf, and
do not tend to support the plaintiff’s case,
and do not contain anything impeaching
the defendants’ case. Upon this the plain-
tiff has advanced a contention which is
startling to me, that privilege under those
words can only be claimed for documents
which the defendants could put in evi-
dence at the trial. The words are to be
understood, he says, as if they ran ““relate
solely to and could be used by the defen-
dants in support of their case.” My first
observation upon this is that these are not
the words, and it would have been easy to
require these words if this were the mean-
ing. The second observation is that this
cannot be the meaning of the words, and
for this reason. The verb used is ‘‘relate.”
The same word is used in defining the whole
class of the documents as to which the affi-
davit of documents is to be made. They are
all the doguments which ‘“relate” to the
matters in question in the action, whether
they be capable of being given in evidence
or not. The documents to which the affi-
davit is to extend is not confined to
documents which somebody could use in
evidence. The same meaning must be
attributed to the word in the language
under consideration.

Further, it is obvious that there are many
documents-which the defendants could not
putin evidence which they would be entitled
to protect from inspection. The defendant’s
private diary, which may be most useful to
him in enabling him to determine and speak
to a relevant date, is a document which he
cannot put in evidence, but the plaintiff
could not get inspection of it. So if the
defendant has made a copy of a deed re-
lating only to his own title, or has made for
his own use a translation of a document in
Norman French, or has prepared for his
own guidance a note or abstract of what he
is in a position to say in evidence, he could
not put the copy or translation or note in
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evidence (unless as regards the copy deed or
the translation the original had been lost,
and he was entitled to use secondary evi-
dence), but the plaintiff could not obtain
discovery of such documents as those so as
to acquaint himself with the contents of the
deed or the nature of the proposed evidence.
Numerous authorities have been cited by
the apgellant in which the word ‘‘evi-
dences” has been used, and in which docu-
ments which were ‘“ evidences” in the sense
that the defendant could use them as evi-
dence have been protected. But no cases
have been cited in which an order has been
made that documents which were not
“evidences” be discovered on the ground
that although privilege was appropriately
claimed in all other respects the opposite
party was entitled on that ground to in-
spect them, unless it be Knight v. Water-
Sord (Marquess of) (2 Y. & C. Ex. 22) and
Hey v. De la Hey (1886, W. N, 101). Neither
of these cases goes this length. In the
former case the map, it was said, “may
possibly be evidence of the extent of the
manor, and may therefore throw some
light on the plaintiff’s claims” (see 2 Y. &
C. Ex., at p. 41). The Court rolls were “a
collection of Court rolls which he holds for
the benefit of others,” and as to the answer
and the letters reasons are assigned which
support production on grounds of special
matters, not grounds of general application.
In Hey v. De la Hey the defendants by their
affidavit claimed that the documents ¢ were
intended to be or might be used by the de-
fendantsin evidence,” and the Court ordered
production on the ground that they could
not be so used. They were letters between
co-defendants, and the ground was obviously
a good one. The documents were discover-
able unless there were some other ground
of privilege on which the affidavit and the
report are alike silent. To found anything
upon a report of this kind in the Weekly
otes is, in my opinion, impossible.

Upon this point Bewicke v. Graham (7
Q.B.D. 400) is important and establishes, I
think, the law as I understand it to be—
{see Bray on Discovery, 1885 ed. p. 485).

The defendants’ claim of privilege under
this second head is, in my opinion, good.

Then the scene changes and the plaintiff
says—*‘ Granted all this, it remains that
these documents are discoverable because I
allege a case of fraud.” Here he relies
principally upon Bullivant's case ([1900] 2
Q.B. 163; 1901 A.C. 194), and in particular
upon the words of Romer, L.J., * the claim
of privilege is unavailing in cases where
fraud or illegality is alleged, and the exist-
ence of thaf fraud or illegality being in
issue the documents are relevant to that
issue.”. To cite these words and rely upon
them as laying down a general principle
apart from the context and the facts with
reference to which they were uttered is, of
course, quite inadmissible, For instance, if
the affidavit showed that the documents
related to professional advice sought for
and obtained by the party in anticipation of
litigation or under the stress of litigation in
respect, of the alleged fraud, no one could
dispute that they were protected. The

Lord Justice’s words must, of course, be
qualified accordingly. Not every document
relevant to the issue of fraud, but documents
which are not upon some other ground
privileged, are exposed to production. For
the present purpose it is sufficiently accu-
rate to say that documents relating to the
conception and carrying out of the alleged
fraud are not, but documents arising in
professional confidence as to defence against
the alleged fraud are protected.

Further, as regards documents which
upon the principle above stated are open to
inspection, the plaintiff must in asking for
them go at any rate so far as to satisfy
the court that his allegations of fraud are
not merely the bold assertions of a reckless
pleader, but are such as to be regarded
seriously as constituting prima facie a case
of fraud resting on solid grounds. Here
againe sentence from Lord Davey’s opinion
in Bullivant’s case is to be read carefully and
its meaning to be ascertained from the cir-
cumstances in which it was uttered. I do
not, dissent,” he says, ¢ from what was said
by Mr Haldane, that it must be assumed
for tlie present purpose that the case stated
in the pleadings is true for the purpose of
testing the right to production.

~In Bullivant’s case an information had
been filed in the Supreme Court of Victoria
and a cominission had been issued to take
the evidence of a witness in this country.
Upon this examination he was called upon
to produce a certain book. The question in
the action was whether the defendant was
“evading” a statute. In the Court of
Appeal the case was decided upon the foot-
ing that the allegations of intent to evade
were allegations of fraud. The House of
Lords reversed the Court of Appeal on the
ground that evasion of a statute is not, in
one sense of the word, a fraud and that
there was no sufficient allegation of fraud.
Upon this state of facts Lord Davey’s words
obviously fell far short of the meaning that
if fraud be alleged the Court must assume
that it is true. Lord Halsbury’s words are
that ¢ before professional confidence can be
broken you must have some definite charge
either by way of allegation or affidavit or
what not.”  If 1 may venture to express
this in my own words, 1 should say that to
. obtain discovery on the ground of fraud the
plaintiff must show to the satisfaction of
the Court good ground for saying that
prima facie a state of things exists which,
if not displaced at the trial, will support a
charge of frand. This may be done in
various ways—admissions on the pleadings
of facts which go to show fraud—affidavits
in some interlocutory proceedings which go
to show fraud — possibly even without
*admission or affidavit allegations of facts
which if not disputed or met by other facts
would lead a reasonable person to see at
any rate a strong probability that there
was fraud, may be taken by the Court to be
sufficient. Every case must be decided on
its merits —(Reg v. Cox, 14 Q.B.D. 163).
The mere use of the word *‘fraud” or the
prefix of the adverb ‘ fraudulently ” from
time to time throughout the narrative will
not suffice .
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The Court of Appeal found in the present
case no sufficient allegation of a case of
fraud. I agree. Par. 11 of the statement
of claim “ charges ” that the testator com-
municated to his executors a secret trust
which was either too -indefinite or was
invalid by reason of the Mortmain Acts.
Suppose he did. Who was defrauded by
his doing so? Not the testator, for eg
hypothesi it was he who made the com-
munication; he was a party to it and
intended it. Par. 12 ‘charges” that the
form in which the testamentary disposi-
tions was (sic) arranged or settled by two
of the executors was a fraudulent device
for appropriating to the executors a part of
the testator’s estate and that the third
executor was a party to it. This is a
“charge ” of the existence of a *scheme,”
not the allegation of any facts which tend
prima facie to support a case of fraud.
And there is nothing whatever in the way
of admission or evidence or circumstances
of suspicion to found a Hrobability or a
prima facte case of fraud. This ground
therefore in my judgment fails.

It follows that the appeal wholly fails,
subject to something which must be said as
to some particular documents. . . .

As regards the documents Nos. 434 (1) and
(2), these were inspected by the judge with
the consent of the parties. It is a matter
of everyday occurrence that to save time
and dispute the parties say, “Let the judge
see the document,” meaning that he is to
look at it as further material upon which
to base his judicial decision whether it is
privileged or not. No one in such a case
intends to make the judge an arbitrator,
and I am satisfied that the parties in the
present case did not so intend. As to the
right decision as regards those, the matter
stands thus—No. 43%(1) is a case and opinion
taken in the testator’s lifetime. No. 434 (2)
is a case and opinion taken after his death.
In my opinion both of these are protected,
and the order undér appeal is right. No.
434 (2) is protected by professional privilege
—No. 434 (1) is not—(Russell v. Jackson,
9 Hare, 387). No. 434 (1), however, is pro-
tected upon the grounds stated by Lord
Sumner in his judgment.

The defendants giving an undertaking to
produce the documents Nos. 435 (2) and 437
(1), as to which the order under appeal is
obviously wrong by a slip, this appeal should
in my judgment be dismissed, with costs.

Appeal dismissed.

Counsel for the Appellants — Hughes,
K.C. — J. B, Matthews, K.C. — Beddell.
Agents—Edmund O’Connor & Company,
Solicitors.

Counsel for the Respondents — Tomlin,
K.C.—D. Hogg, K.C.—Dighton Pollock.
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Worthington, & Company, Manchester,
Solicitors.

HOUSE OF LORDS.
Friday, March 5, 1920.

(Before the Lord Chancellor (Birkenhead),
the Lord Chief Justice (Reading), Lords
"Haldane, Dunedin, Atkinson, Sumner,
Buckmaster, and Phillimore.)

REX v. BEARD.

Criminal Law—Murder—Act of Violence
Done in Furtherance of Rape—Plea of
Drunkenness—Intent.

Homicide by an act of violence done
in the course or in the furtherance of a
felony involving violence is murder.

Insanity, whether produced by drunk-
enness or otherwise, is a defence to the
crime charged.

Evidence of drunkenness which ren-
ders the accused®incapable of forming
the specific intent essential to constitute
the crime should be taken into consider-
ation with the other facts proved in
order to determine whether or not he
had this intent.

Evidence of drunkenness falling short
of a proved incapacity in the accused to
form the intent necessary to constitute
the crime, and merely establishing that
his mind was affected by drink so that
he more readily gave way to some
violent passion, does not rebut the pre- .
sumption that aman intends the natural
consequences of his acts.

Observations on Rex v. Meade, [1909]
1 X.B. 89.

Their Lordships’ judgment was delivered

LorpD CHANCELLOR (BIRKENHEAD) —
Arthur Beard was convicted of murder at
Chester Assizes and sentenced to death.
The Court of Criminal Appeal quashed the
conviction and substituted a verdict of man-
slaughter and a sentence of twenty years’
penal servitude. The case is brought to
your Lordships’ House under section 1, sub-
section 6, of the Criminal Appeal Act 1907
upon the certificate of the Attorney-General
that the decision of the Court of Criminal
Appedlinvolves a point of law of exeeptional
importance. The facts which are relevant
may be shortly stated.

About 6 p.m. or a little later on the 25th
July 1919 a girl of thirteen years of age was
sent by her father to purchase some small
articles at a shop. About half-past six she
was seen entering the gate which leads into
Carfield Mill. The only person then at the
mill was the prisoner Beard, who was there
in discharge of his duty as night watchman.
He proceeded to have carnal knowledge of
the girl by force, and when shestruggled to
escape from him he placed his hand over
her mouth, and his thumb on her throat,
thereby causing her death by suffocation.
There was some but not much evidence that
the prisoner was under the influence of
intoxicating liquor on the day and at the
time in question. This evidence was of a
character which is not unusual in crimes of
violence, but in view of the legal problems
to which this case has given rise if requires
examination.



